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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

With respect to Lead Plaintiff’s initial Consolidated

Complaint (instrument #441),°

in the Court’s memorandum and order,
entered on December 20, 2002 (#1194), the Court granted Deutsche
Bank AG’'s first motion to dismiss all claims against it. The
Court also found that Lead Plaintiff had not met the pleading
requirements imposed by the PSLRA? in its allegations against
Merrill Lynch & Co., but denied Merrill Lynch’s motion to dismiss
and ordered Lead Plaintiff to amend its pleadings to address with
adequate particularity the Nigerian barge transaction and/or the
transactions with Enron North America involving a complex set of
bogus power trades in the Midwest, both of which fit the pattern
of fraud previously pleaded by Lead Plaintiff. Both transactions
occurred in 1999.

After the Court had resolved all motions to dismiss the
First Consclidated Complaint, on May 14, 2003 Lead Plaintiff filed
its First Amended Consolidated Complaint (#1388), with amended
allegations against Merrill Lynch & Co. and claims against newly

added Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith (collectively,

! The original Newby complaint (#1) was filed on October 22,
2001. After appointment by the Court, Lead Plaintiff filed the
First Consolidated Complaint for Violation of the Securities Laws
(“the Newby Complaint”) on April 8, 2002. #4471 . The latest,
controlling Amended Consclidated Complaint for Violation of the
Securities Laws (#1388) wag filed on May 14, 2003.

2 private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which
amended both the Securities Act of 19233 and the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4.



“Merrill Lynch”).? The First Amended Consolidated Complaint also
asserted claims against Deutsche Bank AG once again, but added as
new Defendants Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., DB Alex. Brown LLC,
and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (collectively “the

Deutsche Bank Entitieg”) .®

* The new complaint identifies Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner
& Smith as the agent of, and an entity controlled by, its parent
company, Merrill Lynch and Co., Inc.

* According to the First Amended Consolidated Complaint,
Deutsche Bank AG controlled Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.
(successor of Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown LLC), DB Alex. Brown LLC (a
wholly owned subsidiary of Deutsche Bank Securities 1Inc.), and
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (a wholly owned subsidiary of
Deutsche Bank AG).

With a supporting affidavit and documents (Exs. 1-2 to
#1621), Deutsche Bank Entities in the Memorandum of Law in support
of their motion to dismiss, #1621 at 1, nn. 1 and 2, state that as
“a matter of public record,”

[Oln or about June 4, 1999, Tanus
Corporation, a subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG,
merged with Bankers Trust Corporation, owner
of 100% of the common stock of Bankers Trust
Americas . . . [and] [o]ln or about April 25,
2003 Bankers Trust Corporation changed its
name to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.

[O]ln or about December 3, 1999, BT Alex. Brown
Incorporated converted into a Delaware limited
liability company named DB Alex. Brown, LLC. .

On or about January 12, 2001, [Deutsche
Banc Securities Inc. (“DBSI”)] merged with and
into DB Alex. Brown LLC. . . . DBSI was the
surviving company and changed its name to
Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown Inc. . . . On or
about March 29, 2002, Deutsche Bank Alex.
Brown Inc. changed its name to Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc. Therefore, neither DB Alex.
Brown LLC nor Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown Inc.
are legal entities capable of being sued as
entities distinct from DBSI.



With respect to all these Defendants, pending before the
Court in the above referenced cause are Merrill Lynch’s motion to
dismiss the amended complaint (#1499); Merrill Lynch’s motion for
clarification of the Court’s June 27, 2003 order concerning the
PSLRA stay (#1556); and the Deutsche Bank Entities’ motion to
dismiss (#1620).

Against Merrill Lynch, the First Amended Consolidated
complaint asserts claims for violation of § 10(b), 15 U.S.C. 8§
7873 (b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, and for control
person liability under § 20(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a), of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the 1934 Act”).

The amended complaint also charges the three “surviving”
Deutsche Bank Entities (Deutsche Bank AG, Deutsche Bank Securities
Inc., and Deutsche Bank Trust Company) with violations of § 10 (b)
and § 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5.
It further asserts that Deutsche Bank AG and Deutsche Bank
Securities 1Inc. f/k/a Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown violated §

12(a) (2)° and § 15° of the Securities Act of 1933 (“the 1933 Act”).

> Section 12(a) (2) of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 771(a) (2),
formerly designated Section 12(2), provides that a purchaser of a
security may bring a private action against a seller that “offers
or sells a security . . . by means of a prospectus or oral
communication, which includes an untrue statement of material fact
or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements . . . not misleading.”

According to the First Amended Consolidated Complaint at
127, § 107 (b), Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.

under the control of Deutsche bank AG

acted as an underwriter of certain Enron and
Enron affiliated entity securities, including:
the Enron Credit Linked Notes Trust 8/17/00 8%
Enron Credit Linked Notes due 05; the Osprey



I. Merrill Lynch

A. Motion for Clarification

As a threshold matter, the Court grants Merrill Lynch’s
motion for clarification. The Court concurs that because the
Court has not yet ruled that Lead Plaintiff has adequately stated
a claim against Merrill Lynch or the Deutsche Bank Entities, the
discovery stay under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
(“PSLRA”) is still in effect as to these Defendants. Accordingly,
the Court now reviews their motions to dismiss the claims against
them in the First Amended Consolidated Complaint.
B. Motion to Dismiss Exchange Act Claims against Merrill Lynch

The Court hereby incorporates into this memorandum and
order the factual allegations and applicable law set out in the
Court’s previous memoranda and orders addressing motions to
dismiss in Newby.

Merrill Lynch essentially makes two arguments in its
motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. Rules of Civil Procedure
12 (b) (6) and 9(b): (1) that Lead Plaintiff has not and cannot

allege facts showing that Merrill Lynch was a primary violator of

Trust, Osprey I, Inc. 9/28/00 7.797% and
6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 1/15/03;
Enron’s 2/01 sale (and 7/01 resale) Zero
Coupon Convertible Senior Notes due 21; the
Osprey Trust, Osprey I, Inc. 9/23/99 8.31%
Senior Secured Notes due 03; and the Marlin
Water Trust II, Marlin Water Corp. II 7/12/01
6.31% and 6.19% Senior Secured Notes due 03.
¢ Section 15 makes liable “[e]very person who, by or through
stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, . . . controls any person
liable” under Sections 11 or 12 of the 1933 Act. 15 U.S.C. § 770.



§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5; and (2) that Lead Plaintiff has failed to
allege loss causation arising from the challenged Nigerian barge
transaction and the power swaps in 1999, as required under § 10 (b)
and Rule 10b-5.
(1) Primary Violator

First, insisting that Lead Plaintiff has failed to plead
a primary violation of the securities laws by Merrill Lynch,
Merrill Lynch argues that the allegations only amount to, if
anything, mere aiding and abetting of securities fraud, not
cognizable as a primary violation of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.
Merrill Lynch points to a recent complaint (Ex. B to Declaration
of Stephen M. Loftin (#1500) filed by the SEC against Merrill
Lynch and four of its former employees charging them only with
aiding and abetting securities fraud violations. Merrill Lynch
maintains that Lead Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the Supreme
Court’s decision in Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First

Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994).7

’ In Central Bank, the Supreme Court held that a private
plaintiff may not maintain an aiding and abetting action under §
10(b). The SEC is authorized under § 21 (d) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78u(d), to bring enforcement actions for equitable relief
and seek monetary penalties against those who aid and abet
violations of § 10(b); moreover section 104 of the PSLRA, amended
15 U.S.C. § 78t to authorize SEC injunctive actions for aiding and
abetting of violators, thereby “revers[ing] any impact Central Bank
might have had on the SEC’s power to enjoin the aiding and abetting
of these securities provisions.”. U.8. S.E.C. v. Fehn, 97 F.3d
1276, 1282-83 (9™ Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 813 (1997).
The fact that the SEC is authorized to and has charged Merrill
Lynch merely with aiding and abetting does not automatically mean
that Lead Plaintiff cannot assert a claim that Merrill Lynch is a
primary violator of § 10(b).



Furthermore Merrill Lynch contends that it had no
gspecial business relationship with Enron or its shareholders
regarding the transactions at issue, that Merrill Lynch did not
create, structure or direct any purported misstatements, and that
any injury suffered by plaintiffs was caused by Enron’s alleged
misstatements about its financial status. In the same vein
Merrill Lynch insists that it never directed or contrived the
Nigerian barge investment nor the power swaps in 1999, which it
maintains were merely normal business deals with nothing illegal
involved, that it never engaged in a manipulative or deceptive
act, and that it never participated in recording these challenged
transactions in Enron’s bocks or reviewing the correctness of
Enron’s accounting. Indeed, Merrill Lynch argues that the
transactions targeted in the complaint did not directly affect the
market for Enron securities until after Enron’s purported
misrepresentations of them.?

Quoting In re Homestore.com, Inc. Sec. Litig., 252 F.

Supp. 2d 1018, 1040 (C.D. Cal. 2003) as its authority, Merrill

® In a footnote relating to the addition of Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner and Smith (“MLPF&S”) in the amended complaint,
Merrill Lynch joins the other banks in asserting that the claims
against any newly added entities related to the original named
Defendants is barred by the statute of limitations because the
amended consolidated complaint was filed more than a year after
discovery of the facts constituting the alleged misconduct and does
not relate back to the original consolidated complaint because Lead
Plaintiff has not shown any "“mistake” about the identity of the
correct party. The Court will address that argument when it deals
with the Deutsche Bank Entities’ motion to dismiss, since the issue
was raised in, briefed, and argued in detail in the body of its and
other banking Defendants’ motions, unlike in Merrill Lynch's
footnote.



Lynch insists it cannot be charged as a primary violator of §
10 (b) :

[0]f the many participants in a “scheme,”
there may be primary violators and secondary
violators. Those who actually “employ” the
gcheme to defraud investors are primary
violators, while those who merely participate
in or facilitate the scheme are secondary
violators. In the present case, the primary
architects of the scheme are the officers of
Homestore who designed and carried out the
schemes to defraud. The Court holds that
other actors, such as AOL and its employees
who actively participated in the triangular
transaction scheme, did not “employ” the
scheme to defraud investors, and are
therefore secondary violators. Therefore,
they are “aiders and abettors” within the
meaning to Central Bank.

Merrill Lynch urges that if there was a scheme to defraud, Enron
alone 1is responsible because it designed the transactions,
employed the scheme, and misrepresented its financial situation.

Second, Merrill Lynch contends that Lead Plaintiff has
failed to allege loss causation, a requisite element for a claim
under § 10(b). Merrill Lynch argues that because the Nigerian
barge transaction and the power swaps were not known to the public
until April and August of 2002,° respectively, five and nine
months after the Class Period ended on November 27, 2001, and long
after the price of Enron securities had collapsed, Lead Plaintiff
cannot plead or prove that the plaintiffs’ losses were caused by

these two transactions, nor that any conduct by Merrill Lynch

® Merrill Lynch represents that the Nigerian barge transaction
was first reported in The Wall Street Journal on April 9, 2002,
while the power swaps were disclosed by The New York Times on
August 8, 2002. Loftin Decl. (#1500), Exs. C & D.



caused plaintiffs any pecuniary loss. Loss causation 1s an
element of a claim under § 10(b), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b) (4) (“In any
private action arising under this chapter, the plaintiff shall
have the burden of proving that the act or omission of the
defendant alleged to wviolate this chapter caused the loss for
which the plaintiff seeks to recover damages.”). See Huddleston
v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d 534, 549 (5% Cir. 1981), aff’d in
part, rev’d in part on other grounds, 459 U.S. 375 (1983).
Instead, insists Merrill Lynch, actions contrived and directed by
and misrepresentations made by Enron, not Merrill Lynch, caused
the Plaintiffs’ alleged injury, if any.

In acknowledging the wide spectrum of judicial opinions
regarding § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, this Court has rejected the
narrow construction of the statute and of primary violations
employed by Homestore.com and refers the parties to its extensive
discussion in #1194. Moreover, as explained in that memorandum
and order, a misrepresentation need not have been made because the

statute also applies to conduct,'®

here the alleged substantial,
active role in major fraudulent transactions with no legitimate
business purpose, but designed to deceive investors-in and central

to a scheme and course of business operating to present a falsely

inflated image of Enron’s financial strength.

1 The allegations of nondisclosure of vital information

materially affecting the market price of Enron’s securities support
application of the rebuttable fraud-on-the-market theory of
reliance. Leaving aside the allegations of misrepresentations
about Enron made by Merrill Lynch analysts, the Court observes that
this doctrine, which is recognized in the Fifth Circuit, suffices
to establish reliance.



After reviewing the First Amended Consolidated Complaint
and all submissions relating to Merrill Lynch’s motion to dismiss
(#1499), i.e., #1500, 1501, 1574, 1575, 1601, 1617, 1685, and
1720, the Court finds that Lead Plaintiff has adequately stated a
claim with particularity, giving rise to a strong inference of
scienter, against Merrill Lynch under §§ 10(b) and 20(a) of the
1934 Act.

Lead Plaintiff has alleged with specificity that Merrill
Lynch “directly or indirectly” employed a scheme to defraud and
engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business over the
Class Period, as well as issued numerous analysts’ reports and
recommendations containing false and misleading statements about
Enron’s financial condition, as part of the purported Ponzi scheme
that was intended to and did operate as a fraud or deceit upon
investors in connection with the purchase of Enron securities,
including the plaintiff class. Lead Plaintiff’s new and specific
allegations regarding the Merrill Lynch’s deceptive conduct in the
Nigerian barge deal (purchasing Nigerian barges from Enron to
create sham earnings of over $12 million in return for a secret,
oral side agreement with Andrew Fastow that Enron would repurchase
them within six months so there would be no risk, but only a
lucrative profit for Merrill Lynch). Moreover, Lead Plaintiff
alleges that notes were written by and warnings made to Merrill
Lynch’s Commitment Committee by James Brown, head of Merrill

Lynch’s Structured Finance Group, reflecting concerns about the

- 10 -



“reputational risk” of the deal,' as well as internal
communications in the company. Such allegations support a strong
inference that Merrill Lynch knew the Nigerian barge deal was a
phony transaction created to manipulate Enron’s income statements
in return for Merrill Lynch’s lucrative 15% return. Lead
Plaintiff has also provided copies of a letter agreement between
the Department of Justice/Enron Task Force and Merrill Lynch
reflecting Merrill Lynch’s acceptance of responsibility for the
Nigerian barge transaction and cooperation with the government,
and of the indictment of Merrill Lynch employees Daniel Bayly,
James A. Brown and Robert S. Furst for their role 1in the
transaction inter alia. #1685. Exs. C&D.

In the same vein the alleged bogus future power swaps
were from incomplete power plant construction projects, incapable
of producing energy (again with a clandestine agreement to cancel
the transactions after Enron’s 1999 earnings report) and no energy
ever changed hands. In addition the complaint points out that
Merrill Lynch sought and obtained a statement from Enron’s Chief
Accounting Officer, Richard Causey, that Enron had not relied on
Merrill Lynch for account advice regarding these transactions.

All these facts constituted conduct purportedly designed

to mislead potential investors and the market generally about

11 Merrill Lynch puts the phrase in context by providing the
full guotation from a copy of Brown’s notes (Ex. A to Declaration
of Stephen M. Loftin (#1500)): “reputational risk with aid/abet
Enron income stmt. manipulation.” The Court observes that Mr.
Brown’s characterization of the transaction is not a legal
conclusion binding on the Court.

- 11 -



















































































































































































































































